
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
 
 
ROBIN JERSTAD, 
 
      Plaintiff,   
 
 - against - 
 
NEW YORK VINTNERS LLC 
 
      Defendant.  
 

 
 
 
Docket No. 1:18-cv-10470 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 
 

 
COMPLAINT  

 
Plaintiff Robin Jerstad (“Jerstad” or “Plaintiff”) by and through his undersigned counsel, 

as and for his Complaint against Defendant New York Vintners LLC (“NY Vintners” or 

“Defendant”) hereby alleges as follows: 

 NATURE OF THE ACTION  

1. This is an action for copyright infringement under Section 501 of the Copyright 

Act; and for the removal and/or alteration of copyright management information under Section 

1202(b) of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act. This action arises out of Defendant’s 

unauthorized reproduction and public display of a copyrighted photograph of wine and fried 

chicken, owned and registered by Jerstad, a professional photographer. Accordingly, Jerstad 

seeks monetary relief under the Copyright Act of the United States, as amended, 17 U.S.C. § 101 

et seq.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

2. This claim arises under the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., and this Court 

has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).  
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3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant resides in 

and/or transacts business in New York.   

4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  

PARTIES 
 

5. Jerstad is a professional photographer in the business of licensing his photographs 

to online and print media for a fee having a usual place of business at 13522 Mason Crest Drive, 

San Antonio, TX 78280. 

6. Upon information and belief, NY Vintners is a domestic limited liability company 

duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, with a place of business 63 

Barclay Street, New York, NY 10007.  Upon information and belief NY Vintners is registered 

with the New York Department of State Division of Corporations to do business in the State of 

New York. At all times material, hereto, NY Vintners has posted an event on a website at the 

URL: https://pulsd.com (the “Website”).  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Background and Plaintiff’s Ownership of the Photograph 

7. Jerstad photographed wine and fried chicken (the “Photograph”). A true and 

correct copy of the Photograph is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

8. Jerstad then licensed the Photograph to My San Antonio.  On December 22, 2010, 

My San Antonio ran an article that featured the Photograph titled Review: Max's Wine Dive.  See 

URL https://www.mysanantonio.com/life/food/article/Review-Max-s-Wine-Dive-904637.php.  

Jerstad’s name was featured in a gutter credit identifying him as the photographer of the 

Photograph. A true and correct copy of the article is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
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9. Jerstad is the author of the Photograph and has at all times been the sole owner of 

all right, title and interest in and to the Photograph, including the copyright thereto.   

10. The Photograph was registered with the United States Copyright Office and was 

given registration number VA 2-077-500 and titled “Jerstad_Fried Chicken, 12_22_10.jpg.”  See 

Exhibit C. 

B. Defendant’s Infringing Activities 

11. NY Vintners posted an event on the Website titled Wine Education Classes where 

NY Vintners was promoting their $39 One Wine and Food Class. See URL 

https://pulsd.com/new-york/promotions/new-york-vintners-wine-education-classes. The posting 

prominently featured the Photograph. A screenshot copy of the posting with the Photograph is 

attached hereto as Exhibit D.   

12. NY Vintners did not license the Photograph from Plaintiff for its posting, nor did 

NY Vintners have Plaintiff’s permission or consent to publish the Photograph on the Website. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT) 

(17 U.S.C. §§ 106, 501) 
 

13. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in 

Paragraphs 1-12 above.  

14. NY Vintners infringed Plaintiff’s copyright in the Photograph by reproducing and 

publicly displaying the Photograph on the Website. NY Vintners is not, and has never been, 

licensed or otherwise authorized to reproduce, publically display, distribute and/or use the 

Photograph.  
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15. The acts of Defendant complained of herein constitute infringement of Plaintiff’s 

copyright and exclusive rights under copyright in violation of Sections 106 and 501 of the 

Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 106 and 501.  

16. Upon information and belief, the foregoing acts of infringement by Defendant 

have been willful, intentional, and purposeful, in disregard of and indifference to Plaintiff’s 

rights. 

17. As a direct and proximate cause of the infringement by the Defendant of 

Plaintiff’s copyright and exclusive rights under copyright, Plaintiff is entitled to damages and 

Defendant’s profits pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b) for the infringement.  

 
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

INTEGRITY OF COPYRIGHT MANAGEMENT INFORMATION AGAINST 
DEFENDANT 
(17 U.S.C. § 1202)  

 
18. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in 

Paragraphs 1-17 above. 

19. Upon information and belief, in its article on the Website, Defendant copied the 

Photograph from My San Antonio which contained a gutter credit underneath the Photograph 

stating, “Photo by Robin Jerstad” and placed it on its Website without the gutter credit.  

20. Upon information and belief, NY Vintners intentionally and knowingly removed 

copyright management information identifying Plaintiff as the photographer of the Photograph. 

21. The conduct of NY Vintners violates 17 U.S.C. § 1202(b). 

22. Upon information and belief, NY Vintners’s falsification, removal and/or 

alteration of the aforementioned copyright management information was made without the 

knowledge or consent of Plaintiff.   
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23. Upon information and belief, the falsification, alteration and/or removal of said 

copyright management information was made by NY Vintners intentionally, knowingly and with 

the intent to induce, enable, facilitate, or conceal their infringement of Plaintiff’s copyright in the 

Photograph. NY Vintners also knew, or should have known, that such falsification, alteration 

and/or removal of said copyright management information would induce, enable, facilitate, or 

conceal their infringement of Plaintiff’s copyright in the Photograph. 

24. As a result of the wrongful conduct of NY Vintners as alleged herein, Plaintiff is 

entitled to recover from NY Vintners the damages, that he sustained and will sustain, and any 

gains, profits and advantages obtained by NY Vintners because of their violations of 17 U.S.C. § 

1202, including attorney’s fees and costs. 

25. Alternatively, Plaintiff may elect to recover from NY Vintners statutory damages 

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c) (3) in a sum of at least $2,500 up to $25,000 for each violation 

of 17 U.S.C. § 1202. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment as follows:  

1. That Defendant NY Vintners be adjudged to have infringed upon Plaintiff’s 

copyrights in the Photograph in violation of 17 U.S.C §§ 106 and 501; 

2. The Defendant NY Vintners be adjudged to have falsified, removed and/or altered 

copyright management information in violation of 17 U.S.C. § 1202.  

3. That Plaintiff be awarded Plaintiff’s actual damages and Defendant’s profits, 

gains or advantages of any kind attributable to Defendant’s infringement of 

Plaintiff’s Photograph;  
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4. That, with regard to the Second Claim for Relief, Plaintiff be awarded either: 

a) Plaintiff’s actual damages and Defendant’s profits, gains or advantages of any 

kind attributable to Defendant’s falsification, removal and/or alteration of 

copyright management information; or b) alternatively, statutory damages of at 

least $2,500 and up to $ 25,000 for each instance of false copyright management 

information and/or removal or alteration of copyright management information 

committed by Defendant pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c); 

5. That Defendant be required to account for all profits, income, receipts, or other 

benefits derived by Defendant as a result of its unlawful conduct; 

6. That Plaintiff be awarded his costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees pursuant to 

17 U.S.C. § 1203(b);  

7. That Plaintiff be awarded punitive damages for copyright infringements; 

8. That Plaintiff be awarded attorney’s fees and costs; 

9. That Plaintiff be awarded pre-judgment interest; and  

10. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable in accordance with Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b).  

 
Dated: Valley Stream, New York 

November 11, 2018  
        LIEBOWITZ LAW FIRM, PLLC 

        By: /s/Richard Liebowitz 
        Richard Liebowitz 
        11 Sunrise Plaza, Suite 305 

Valley Stream, New York 11580  
        Tel: (516) 233-1660 
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        RL@LiebowitzLawFirm.com 
  

Attorneys for Plaintiff Robin Jerstad 
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11/9/2018 Review: Max's Wine Dive - San Antonio Express-News

https://www.mysanantonio.com/life/food/article/Review-Max-s-Wine-Dive-904637.php 1/5

Recommended Video

https://www.mysanantonio.com/life/food/article/Review-Max-s-Wine-Dive-904637.php

Review: Max's Wine Dive
By Edmund Tijerina  Published 12:00 am CST, Wednesday, December 22, 2010

Pulling off the mix of accessible wines and comfort food is not easy to do.

At Max's Wine Dive, it's a mix that thrills when it succeeds and annoys when it doesn't.

The restaurant opened in

Austin and took its

successful concept and

execution to Houston, where

it has gained a following. In

San Antonio, it's a new and welcome addition to a rapidly improving and expanding

restaurant scene.

IMAGE 1 OF 5

Max’s signature fried chicken is crisp on the outside and moist on the inside. One of the restaurant’s slogans
is “Fried chicken and Champagne, why the hell not?” 
PHOTO BY ROBIN JERSTAD/SPECIAL TO THE
... more
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Bottom line: Fun atmosphere, friendly service, good and not outrageously priced

wines, lots of outstanding appetizers, an often satisfying brunch and lots of room for

improvement elsewhere on the menu.

Among the hits is the Nacho Mama's Oysters, a nice combination of flavors and

textures that combines a perfectly fried cornmeal-dredged Gulf oyster on top of a

shatteringly crisp fried wonton chip and a dollop of garlicky aïoli, topped with another

dollop of a habanero salsa and some micro cilantro. This is one of those dishes where

each element brings a little something to create a dish much greater than the sum of its

parts.

Another very nice appetizer, the pulled-pork stuffed piquillo pepper, offered an

unexpected combination — a little Spanish flavor of the pepper, the Southern

goodness of the pork in the Mexican form of a chile relleno, topped with an

Argentinean-style cilantro chimichurri. A chipotle mayonnaise added some color, but

the dish really didn't need any more richness; it was already good enough.

Then there's the slightly greasy goodness of the bison sliders, topped with caramelized

onions, an appetizer that was enough for a lunch.

Continue past the appetizers and you're playing culinary roulette.

The signature and highly hyped fried chicken, with a crisp and flavorful crust and a

nicely moist meat, was indeed fantastic. But the sides were not. The flavor of collard

greens nearly disappeared under a mess of bacon.

Hey, we understand bacon makes almost everything better, but even the most diehard

bacon lover in our group thought it was too much. The mashed potatoes didn't taste

like much of anything.

Another of the signature items, the Kobe burger, tasted fine, but certainly not anything

special, especially for 15 bucks. This city offers much better burgers at both upscale

and down-home places.

The accompanying fries proved a mystery. On both review visits, they were nicely crisp,

but in one visit they had a good amount of a seasoning blend, in another visit that
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blend tasted like a packet of dried ranch dressing mix.

That mix might be good with some sour cream for a dip, but not on fries.

Then an order of a seared tuna fillet during a busy weeknight came out tasting fishy, as

though it had sat in the cooler just a little too long.

On the other hand, an accompanying tapenade tasted wonderful.

Another plate of mixed quality, the Cracklin' Chicken, brought another tasty piece of

poultry, but some roasted tomatoes that accompanied the dish had a curious taste,

almost fishy.

Along those lines was the signature “Haute” Dog. This was Texas style, which meant a

topping of Texas chili, sliced jalapeños and some grated cotija cheese. The rather

bland dog needed the toppings, which fortunately were pretty tasty.

A bowl of that chili featuring finely minced beef and plenty of sliced jalapeños would

work nicely on its own.

A dessert order that combined a half order of a Bananas Foster bread pudding and a

chocolate brownie didn't fare much better. Both very much needed the ice cream

topping to add some moisture and flavor.

On the other hand, we have been hearing lots of great informal reviews about brunch,

so perhaps it's the meal to check out.

Food quality aside, it's a fun place. It fills up quickly in the evenings and even a

crowded lunch had a good energy, with servers joking with patrons and sound

bouncing off the exposed brick walls in the industrial-style interior.

But the servers never forget their job is to sell. At one visit, the waiter introduced the

wine to-go menu just before bringing the check, after our group had a little wine and

presumably would be more willing to buy half a case or a case.

Next visit will definitely focus on very tasty appetizers and a thoughtful selection of

good wines.
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Dinner? Well, there's still time for this place to get its act together.

QUICK BITES

Address: 340 E. Basse Road at Quarry Village, Suite 101

Phone: 210-444-9547

HIT: Nacho Mama’s Oysters, pulled pork-stuffed piquillos

MISS: Side dishes with fried chicken and Cracklin’ Chicken; dry bread pudding and

brownie

NOTEWORTHY: All wines served are available for purchase to take home.

LIGHTER CHOICE: Several salads and grilled items.

REPORT CARD

Food: ** 1/2

Service: ***

Ambience: ***

Ratings key: **** Excellent |*** Very good | ** Average | * Poor

Price range: Nacho Mama’s Oysters, $8 (half order of 6), $15 (full order of 12);

Southern Fried Chicken, $15; Max’s Kobe Burger, $15; Texas “Haute” Dog, $14. 

Hours: 4 p.m.-midnight Monday-Wednesday; 4 p.m.-2 a.m. Thursday-Friday; 11

a.m.-2 a.m. Saturday; 10 a.m.-midnight Sunday. (Open for weekday lunches through

the end of the year.

Express-News dining critics pay for all meals.

© 2018 Hearst Communications, Inc.
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